I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners are Thomas Clark and Alyson Clark, plaintiffs-

respondents in the Court of Appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on June 27, 2016 (App. 1-

17) and published the opinion on August 26, 2016 (App. 18). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

In Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 222, 274 P.3d 336 (20 12), this 

Court held that trial courts should grant a new trial where "misconduct of 

the prevailing party materially affects the substantial rights of the losing 

party." Applying Teter, the trial court in this matter found that "[t]he 

cumulative effect of Defense counsel's conduct warrants a new trial, as it 

clearly casts doubt on whether a fair trial occurred." CP 475 ~ 13. The 

issues presented for this Court's review are: 

I. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion reversing the trial court's 
new trial order conflicts with this Court's opinion in Teter, which 
repeatedly emphasizes "the deferential review appropriate to 
misconduct findings in civil cases" and recognizes that trial courts 
are in the "best position" to assess whether attorney misconduct 
has prejudiced a party's right to a fair trial. 174 Wn.2d at 223. 

2. Whether this petition involves issues of substantial importance that 
should be determined by this Court because the Court of Appeals' 
published opinion -improperly substituting its own judgment for 
that of the trial court- undermines the authority of trial courts to 
sanction misconduct and will encourage time-consuming and 
wasteful appeals of new triai orders. 



IV. STATEM~~T OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background. 

Thomas Clark started having lower back and leg pain in 2008. RP 

462, 463; Ex. 103. His physician recommended several different 

treatments and -when those treatments did not work- referred Mr. Clark 

to Defendant Andelle Teng, MD. RP 463-65. Dr. Teng concluded that 

Mr. Clark was experiencing spinal stenosis, which occurs when bone spurs 

press on the nerves in the spinal canal. RP 184-85, 732. To relieve this 

pressure, Dr. Teng performed a lumbar laminectomy. RP 1271-72. 

Rather than improving after Dr. Teng performed that procedure, 

Mr. Clark experienced new and worsening symptoms. RP 468-71. Mr. 

Clark reported these symptoms to Dr. Teng, who recommended physical 

therapy. RP 471,473-74. Dissatisfied with that approach, Mr. Clark 

requested an MRI. RP 4 71-72; Ex. 31. The radiologist read the MRI as 

abnormal and concluded that a collection of cerebrospinal fluid was 

compressing the nerves. RP 205. Despite those findings, Dr. Teng did not 

recommend any immediate action. RP 4 73-7 4, 1300-01. Instead, he 

advised Mr. Clark to proceed with physical therapy. !d. 

After reading the radiologist's findings, Mr. Clark sought care 

from another neurosurgeon, Dr. Richard Wohns, who recommended 
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surgery. RP 477-78. During that surgery, Dr. Wohns found a 

cerebrospinal fluid leak (referred to as a "CSF leak"), free-floating bone, 

and residual spinal stenosis. RP 4 78. Dr. Wohns described the surgical 

site following Dr. Teng's procedure as a "mess." RP 396. 

Despite Dr. Wohns' efforts to repair the site, Mr. Clark developed 

a second and then a third CSF leak. RP 241-42, 479-80. Dr. Wohns 

performed a second reparative surgery and another physician performed a 

third. RP 241-42, 244-46. Unfortunately, the continuing CSF leak led to 

meningitis. RP 244. Mr. Clark spent another nineteen days in the 

hospital, incurring over $300,000 in medical bills. Ex. 4, at 22; Ex. 59. 

Mr. Clark is now permanently disabled with "cauda equina 

syndrome." RP 578. His symptoms. include perianal numbness, lack of 

genital sensitivity and sexual function, reduced muscular function, nerve 

damage in both his back and feet, and an altered gait. RP 488, 753-54, 

761-62. He has difficulty walking and pain and numbness in both legs, 

and his condition continues to deteriorate. !d.; RP 251. 

B. Procedural Background. 

Mr. Clark filed suit against Dr. Teng and his employer. CP 1-6. In 

the weeks before trial, it became apparent that Defendants would attempt 

to blame Dr. Wohns for Mr. Clark's injuries. Plaintiffs moved in limine to 
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preclude such evidence because Defendants had not pled non-party fault 

as required by CR 12(i). CP 10-11,25. Moreover, expert testimony is 

necessary in medical malpractice actions to establish breach of the 

standard of care, 1 and Defendants had not identified any expert who would 

testify that Dr. Wohns violated the standard of care. To the contrary, 

defense counsel specifically represented, "We are not empty-chairing 

anyone." CP 48. The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion. CP 481 ~ 4. 

Plaintiffs were also concerned that Defendants would attempt to 

portray Mr. Clark as a patient with numerous medical problems who 

frequently requested treatment that was not medically necessary. 

Plaintiffs therefore filed a motion to preclude Defendants from offering 

"evidence of [Mr. Clark's] unrelated health history and medical records." 

CP 26. The trial court granted that motion, finding that such evidence was 

inadmissible under ER 403. CP 2$.8 ~ 5; RP 48. Leaving no doubt as to 

the scope of its ruling, the court ruled that all of Mr. Clark's medical 

conditions "above the waist" were inadmissible. RP 49. 

Defense counsel repeatedly violated these rulings. Contrary to the 

trial court's order in limine regarding non-party fault, defense counsel 

1 See, e.g., Grove v. PeaceHealth St. Joseph Hasp., 182 Wn.2d 136, 144,341 PJd 261 
(20 14) ("The applicable standard of care and proximate causation generally must be 
established by expert testimony."); see also RCW 7.70.040. 
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used comparative slides in his opening statement to argue that Dr. Wohns 

did something wrong when he operated on Mr. Clark. See RP 151-52 

(quoted on page 10 below). And contrary to the trial court's order in 

limine regarding unrelated medical conditions, defense counsel referenced 

Mr. Clark's previous neck issues and argued that his symptoms were 

"nothing new to him." RP 147. The next morning, Plaintiffs filed a 

motion identifying these violations and requesting a curative instruction. 

CP 244-48. The trial court denied the motion, but made clear that defense 

counsel should comply with the court's orders in limine. RP 260. 

Despite this admonition, defense counsel again violated the trial 

court's order in limine regarding unrelated medical conditions by asking 

Dr. Teng about his earlier treatment of Mr. Clark for unrelated issues. RP 

804. The next day, the trial court stated that it was "very upset" when 

defense counsel "asked Dr. Teng if that was the first time that he had seen 

Mr. Clark." RP 857. Defense cou('sel responded: "I bumbled into that 

one. And I stopped. And I'm sorry if I offended." !d. The trial court 

again warned defense counsel: "don't do that again." !d. 

Yet just a few days later, defense counsel asked another witness, 

Dr. Nitin Bhatia, whether there was any indication in Dr. Teng's progress 

notes (Ex. 115) that Mr. Clark "had a headache" and directed Dr. Bhatia to 
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"turn to page 84" of the notes. RP 1086. Reading that page as directed by 

defense counsel, Dr. Bhatia testified: "On February 2nd, which is the day 

after surgery, [Mr. Clark] woke up with a headache, thinks it's because his 

CPAP was broken and he had to use BIPAP. And those are machines you 

use for sleep apnea." RP 1087 (emphasis added). Defense counsel 

elicited this testimony even though the trial court had specifically ruled 

that "(s]leep apnea is above the waist." RP 49. 

Plaintiffs' counsel raised this issue at the next break. When asked 

to explain her misconduct, defense counsel stated: "The Court's ruling is 

that it's not relevant to anything, but in this context, the question of him 

having a headache has to be explained." RP 1123. The court responded: 

"Then the proper procedure for you, Counsel, is to approach me before his 

testimony and ask for a ruling on that particular kind of testimony. You 

can't take it upon yourself to simply violate my order because you think 

that there is a symptom that has to be explained." Id. 

Because defense counsel had repeatedly violated the trial court's 

orders in limine, Plaintiffs' counsei asked the court "to enter a default." 

RP 1133. The trial court recognized that defense counsel had repeatedly 

violated its orders in limine- identifying "three violations" (id.)- but 

denied Plaintiffs' motion as follows: 
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And as far as your motion to -- for a default, I am 
going to deny that. I do believe that there has been a 
violation. I-- I don't know if the violation was on purpose 
or not. I think sometimes-- I can't get into people's heads, 
and I would prefer to think the better of people rather than 
the other, so I'm not willing to make that conclusion. I am 
however going to reserve a ruling on what I do about that 
until the end of the trial. 

RP 1143. In addition to reserving ruling "until the end of the trial," the 

trial court told defense counsel again "to follow my rulings." !d. 

Despite these repeated warnings, defense counsel continued in 

closing argument to violate the trial court's orders in limine. Referring to 

the reparative surgery that Dr. Wohns performed, defense counsel argued 

"there was no CSF leak that was obvious before [Dr. W ohns] operated, he 

now has a CSF leak." RP 1534. Counsel also argued that Mr. Clark "had 

to go to Harborview [for reparative surgery] because someone else's 

surgeries [referring to Dr. Wohns] on two occasions failed." RP 1540. 

The impact of that misconduct became clear when the jury 

returned a defense verdict after only five hours of deliberation. RP 1577; 

CP 284-85. Plaintiffs then filed a motion for a new trial, which the trial 

court granted based on "[t]he cumulative effect of Defense counsel's 

conduct." CP 475 ~ 13. Defendants then filed a motion for 
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reconsideration, which the trial court denied. CP 660-61. Copies of these 

orders are attached at App. 19-38. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Court Of Appeals' Opinion Conflicts In Numerous 
Respects With This Court's Opinion In Teter (RAP 13.4(b)(l)). 

This Court's opinion in Teter sets forth the controlling legal 

principles in this appeal. Judge (now Justice) Gonzalez found in Teter (a 

medical malpractice case) that the defendant's lawyer repeatedly violated 

various orders in limine and concluded that the "cumulative effect of 

defense counsel's misconduct throughout the trial proceedings warrants a 

new trial, as it casts doubt on whether a fair trial had occurred." 174 

W n.2d at 215. The defendant appealed and, as here, the Court of Appeals 

reversed the trial court's order. Id. 

This Court then granted review and reinstated Judge Gonzalez's 

new trial order. In doing so, the Court emphasized that "we require a 

much stronger showing of abuse of discretion to set aside an order 

granting a new trial than one denying a new trial." ld. at 222 (emphasis 

added). To be reversed, such a ruling must be "manifestly unreasonable 

or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." Id. (emphasis 

added). The Court also emphasized that "[t]he trial court is in the best 

position to most effectively determine if [counsel's] misconduct 
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prejudiced a [party's] right to a fair trial." !d. at 223 (internal quotation 

marks omitted; bracketed text in original). 

Also significant here, this Court strongly criticized the Court of 

Appeals' analysis. That court had concluded that Judge Gonzalez's 

findings "were too general and nonspecific" and that the instances of 

misconduct were not "so out of the ordinary or so irregular or flagrant as 

to deprive the Teters of a fair trial." !d. at 222-23 (internal quotation 

marks omitted). This Court held that "[i]n reaching this conclusion, the 

Court of Appeals appears to have substituted its own judgment for that of 

the trial court." !d. at 223. Rejecting that analysis, the Court held that the 

trial court's "findings of miscondu::;t are adequately supported by the 

record, and we will not substitute our own judgment for the trial court's 

judgment in evaluating the scope and effect of that misconduct," and it 

reinstated Judge Gonzalez's new trial order. !d. at 226-27. 

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this case is contrary to Teter. 

While the Court of Appeals recognized that the standard of review is 

deferential, it reversed the trial court's new trial order based on 

nonexistent "inaccuracies and inconsistencies" (App. 17) and ignored the 

fact that the trial court witnessed defense counsel's conduct over a three 

week trial, observed each and every violation of its orders in limine, and 
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was in the best position to assess the resulting prejudice. Indeed, as 

discussed below, the Court of Appeals made the same mistakes that this 

Court identified in Teter. Just as it did in Teter, this Court should grant 

review and reinstate the new trial order in this case. 

The Court of Appeals divided its analysis into five parts. First, the 

Court of Appeals addressed the triai court's finding that defense counsel 

improperly argued in opening statement, based on slides showing Dr. 

Teng's and Dr. Wohns' post-operative MRis, that "this is what it looked 

like when he was under Dr. Teng's care" and "this is what Dr. Wohns did 

to him" and "the result of Dr. Wohn's care is this." App. 11-12 (quoting 

CP 4 73-74 ~ 6). The Court of Appeals concluded that "defense counsel 

made no such statements" and, instead, "actually argued" as follows: 

[T]his is what it looked like with a free spinal cord the last 
time Mr. Clark left [Dr.] Teng's care .... Here, this is after 
Dr. Wohns' first and second surgeries. All of this blue is 
cerebrospinal fluid. It's the fluid that surrounds the brain, it 
surrounds the spinal cord. It's supposed to be inside the 
yellow tube. It's not supposed to be outside. None of that 
was there until after he operated the first time. Then the 
patient comes back, has another procedure, and the spinal 
fluid is-actually corroded its way out the back .... 

App. 12 (quoting RP 151-52). As this block quotation shows, the trial 

court had paraphrased defense counsel's improper argument. That is 

hardly a basis to find error let alone a manifest abuse of discretion. 
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The Court of Appeals also concluded that the trial court had 

"expressly authorized defense counsel to compare and contrast the MRI 

images included in the PowerPoint slides." App. 13. That ruling reflects a 

misunderstanding of the trial court proceedings. The trial court authorized 

defense counsel to contest causation by "saying that the MRI of the 18th of 

February 2010 ... [d]id not show any kind of leak." RP 30. But as the 

trial court found, defense counsel went farther than authorized: his "only 

purpose of utilizing these comparative slides was to show that Dr. Wohns 

had done something wrong in his surgery." CP 473 ~ 6. 

Second, the Court of Appeals criticized the trial court's findings 

that "Defense counsel also went on to insinuate multiple times that a 

resident at Harborview had to fix Dr. Wohns' surgery; implying that even 

a student was able to fix something that Dr. Wohns was not" and that "he 

also stated on more than one occasion that Dr. Wohns' nurse, not Dr. 

Wohns, stitched up Mr. Clark; again insinuating that allowing the nurse to 

do so was a violation of the standard of care." App. 13; CP 473-74 ~ 6. 

According to the Court of Appeals, these statements were factually 

accurate and consistent with the trial court's "ruling authorizing the 

defense to contest causation." App. 14. But mere factual accuracy is not a 

basis to violate an order in limine, and the trial court correctly recognized 
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these accusations were intended to show "a violation of the standard of 

care" and not causation. CP 474 ~ 6. The trial court never authorized any 

such argument and, indeed, expressly prohibited it. CP 481 ~ 4.2 

In its discussion of the above issues, the Court of Appeals also 

noted that Plaintiffs did not "object before or during the opening 

statement" (App. 13 n.Sl) or "timely object to statements about the 

assistant and the resident" (App. 14). Plaintiffs objected to defense 

counsel's misconduct immediately after opening statements. See CP 244-

48. Plaintiffs objected again during trial, but the trial court ruled that it 

would "reserve a ruling on what I do about that until the end of the trial." 

RP 1143. Moreover, a central purpose of filing a motion in limine is to 

avoid making repeated objections during trial. As this Court recognized in 

Teter, "repeated objections, even if sustained, leave the jury with the 

impression that the objecting party is hiding something important." 174 

Wn.2d at 223. The Court of Appeals' assertion that Plaintiffs should have 

2 Additionally, under controlling case law, if Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs then they 
are also liable "for any additional bodily harm resulting from normal efforts of third 
persons in rendering aid which the other's injury reasonably requires, irrespective of 
whether such acts are done in a proper or a negligent manner." Henderson v. Tyrrell, 80 
Wn. App. 592, 627, 910 P .2d 522 (1996). For that reason too, there was no legitimate 
purpose in arguing that Dr. Wohns caused Plaintiffs' injuries (or that he violated the 
standard of care). The trial court gave a curative instruction to that effect, but expressly 
found that "this instruction was not sufficient to counteract the defense accusations 
against Dr. Wohns." CP 474 ~ 7. Plaintiffs briefed this point, but the Court of Appeals 
ignored it. 

12 



objected more often is contrary to this portion of Teter. 

Third, the Court of Appeals criticized the trial court's discussion of 

defense counsel's violations of its order in limine regarding unrelated 

medical conditions. The Court of Appeals ruled that defense counsel's 

reference to Mr. Clark's previous "problems with his upper spine that 

were causing symptoms in his legs" was permissible because "[l]eg 

problems are 'below the waist' symptoms." App. 15. But as the trial 

court correctly recognized, "the upper spine" is above the waist. CP 474 

~ 8. The Court of Appeals also found that two other violations of the trial 

court's order in limine were not prejudicial because references to "cervical 

problems" and "sleep apnea" can be found "in Clark's exhibits." App. 15. 

But the trial court's new trial order is based on "(t]he cumulative effect of 

Defense counsel's conduct" (CP 475 ~ 13 (emphasis added)), and that 

finding is not affected by isolated references to Mr. Clark's medical 

history in two of the many multi-page exhibits that were admitted at trial. 

Fourth, the Court of Appeals addressed the trial court's reference 

to a "defense theme." App. 15. According to the Court of Appeals, this 

finding was insufficient because the trial court "did not incorporate, adopt, 

or allude to other specific alleged acts of misconduct listed in the motion 

for new trial." App. 16. In so holding, the Court of Appeals made the 
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same mistake that it made in Teter when it concluded that Judge 

Gonzalez's findings "were too general and nonspecific." 174 Wn.2d at 

222. As discussed above, this Court rejected that analysis and focused 

instead on whether Judge Gonzalez's findings were "supported by the 

record." ld. at 226. 

Here, there is ample support for the trial court's finding that 

defense counsel improperly argued a "theme of non-party fault." CP 475 

~ 11. As Plaintiff established in both the trial court and the Court of 

Appeals (CP 333; BriefofRespondent at 14-15), defense counsel argued 

and elicited testimony that: 

• it was improper for Dr. Wohns not to order a pre-operative MRI 
(RP 992-93, 1389); 

• Dr. Wohns does not know how to read MRI films and determine 
whether the foramina were in fact decompressed (RP 932-34, 969-
70, 1107' 1330); 

• Dr. Wohns was wrong when he diagnosed Mr. Clark with cauda 
equina syndrome in March 201 0 and is wrong that he has cauda 
equina syndrome today (RP 1119, 1160, 1338, 1362); 

• Dr. Wohns either lied or incompetently stated that he did a "total 
L5 laminectomy" in his operative report (RP 972, 1163, 1172); 

• Dr. Wohns failed to include in his medical record the exact 
location of the CSF leak that he discovered (RP 1165-66); 

• if Dr. Wohns identified a CSF leak and did not tell Mr. Clark, that 
was a violation of the standard of care (RP 320-21, 1169); 

• Dr. Wohns must have lied about doing the dural repair because 
sutures were not found when Harborview did surgery two months 
later (RP 1164, 1174, 1185, 1535); 
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• Dr. Wohns should not have "over-sewn" the wound before his 
second surgery (RP 1175); 

• it was improper for Dr. Wohns not to order testing of the spinal 
fluid that he found in his March 23 surgery (RP 1533); 

• the surgery Dr. Wohns performed was not medically necessary (RP 
1118-19, 1223); 

• Dr. Wohns failed to fix the first and second CSF leaks (RP 1223-
24); 

• a resident at Harborview fixed what Dr. Wohns could not (RP 152, 
1180, 1224); and 

• it was improper for Dr. Wohns not to get Mr. Clark's previous 
medical records or to discuss Mr. Clark's symptoms with Dr. Teng 
(RP 1301, 1362). 

All of this occurred in the presence of the jury and in violation of the trial 

court's order in limine and repeated warnings regarding non-party fault. 

The Court of Appeals refused to consider these violations because 

it ruled that Plaintiffs "offer[] no authority requiring us to speculate what 

other alleged acts of misconduct the trial court did or did not rely upon." 

App. 16. That authority, which Plaintiffs cited repeatedly, is Teter. In 

Teter, Judge Gonzalez concluded that defense counsel had violated 

numerous orders in limine and ruled that the "cumulative effect of defense 

counsel's misconduct ... warrants a new trial, as it casts doubt on whether 

a fair trial had occurred." 174 Wn.2d at 215. Rather than reverse Judge 

Gonzalez's new trial order because he failed to identify specific instances 

of misconduct, this Court reviewecHhe report of proceedings and 

identified "examples" of misconduct (id. at 224-25) before concluding:

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