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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals' opinion appropriately applies the 
deference to the trial court required by Teter. Unlike Teter, 
the trial court's order was not supported by the record. 
The trial court thus abused its discretion in granting the 
new trial. 

The Clarks argue that the Court of Appeals opinion is contrary to 

Teter because the opinion fails to give deference to the trial court's better 

ability to observe what occurred at trial and pass judgment on its 

significance. PR at 9-10. They argue that the Court of Appeals 

incorrectly reversed based "on nonexistent 'inaccuracies and 

inconsistencies."' PR at 9. 

The question of whether or not there were "inaccuracies and 

inconsistencies" in the trial court's rulings is at the heart ofthis dispute. 

The Court of Appeals had the benefit of not only the corresponding brief, 

but also a color-coded copy of the actual order for new trial to assist it in 

analyzing and correcting the trial court's errors. 10 

9 The Clarks also did not redact personal identifiers on this and other exhibits. See, Ex. 
3, which contains Mr. Clark's date of birth on virtually every page. 
10 This handout appears as Appendix C to this Response. 
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Paragraph six of the court's order contains the following list of 

alleged violations of the motions in limine pertaining to the defense 

opening: 

Counsel put up PowerPoint slides showing Dr. Teng's post
operative MRI and then comparing that to Dr. Wohns' 
post-operative MRI and specifically stated that "this is what 
it look like when he was under Dr. Teng's care" and "this is 
what Dr. Wohns did to him" and "the result of Dr. Wohns' 
care is this." The only purpose of utilizing these 
comparative slides was to show that Dr. Wohns had done 
something improper in his surgery. Defense counsel also 
went on to insinuate multiple times that a resident at 
Harborview had to fix Dr. Wohns' surgery; implying that 
even a student was able to fix something that Dr. Wohns 
was not. He also stated on more than one occasion that 
Dr. Wohns' nurse, not Dr. Wohns, stitched up Mr. Clark; 
again insinuating that allowing the nurse to do so was a 
violation of the standard of care. 

CP 473, lines 17-25- CP 474, lines 1-3 (emphasis in original). This entire 

section of the order, including the quotes and emphasis, is taken verbatim 

from the Clarks' Motion Re: Defense Violations of Motions in Limine 

During Opening Statement. CP 244, line 23- CP 245, line 7. 

Unfortunately, the trial court's reliance upon the Clarks' brief generated 

serious factual errors in its order for new trial. 

The Court of Appeals recognized these factual errors. Citing 

Gildon v. Simon Property Grp., Inc., 158 Wn.2d 483,494, 145 P.3d 72 

(2014), the Court of Appeals' opinion properly states that a trial court 
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abuses its discretion when it relies on unsupported facts. Slip Opinion at 

10, n. 35. 

Without acknowledging that their incorrect briefing generated the 

trial court's errors, the Clarks respond to the factual misstatement by 

suggesting that the trial court ''paraphrased defense counsel's improper 

argument." PR at 10 (emphasis is original). They then conclude "that is 

hardly a basis to find error, let alone a manifest abuse of discretion." I d. 

In fact, the Clarks' brief, as imported into the trial court's final 

order, contains quotation marks suggesting reliance on specific statements, 

not paraphrases. Moreover, the Clarks attempt to change the impact of the 

factual errors by removing the added emphasis that was contained in their 

original briefing and imported wholesale into the trial court's order. The 

actual order states: "this is what Dr. Wohns did to him" and "the result of 

Dr. Wohns' care is this." CP 473; Appendix C. In contrast, the Court of 

Appeals opinion analyzes the order accurately reflecting its true content. 

Slip Opinion at 12. 

The difference between the emphasized version and the version 

without emphasis is substantial. By italicizing "this" in both "quotations," 

the trial court is clearly asserting that the defense focus was on placing 

blame on Dr. Wohns. Placed in proper context, as the Court of Appeals 

did, there is no such focus. Instead, the actual statements, combined with 
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the pre-approved PowerPoint shows the changes between the MRis, 

emphasizes the temporal, causative link, and avoids a discussion of fault. 

The Clarks next claim that the decision improperly imposes an 

obligation to object at the time of the alleged violation. They begin that 

argument with the statement: "Plaintiffs objected to defense misconduct 

inunediately after opening statements." PR at 12. As noted above, the 

Clarks did not object immediately. Instead they lodged their objection the 

next day. Their excuse, that they did not object because it would leave the 

jury with the wrong impression, ignores the reality that there was time to 

do so on the day in question without any danger of influencing the jury. 

The Clarks then return to their original complaint about the three 

alleged violations regarding "above the waist" medical conditions. They 

argue that the "finding is not affected by isolated references to Mr. Clark's 

medical history in two of the many multi-page exhibits that were admitted 

at trial." PR at 13. This argument is disingenuous. These references are 

contained in some of the most important medical records before the jury-

the first page of Dr. Teng's intake record and Dr. Wohns' follow-up notes. 

Ex. 1, p. 1 5; Ex. 3, p. 9. One cannot have it both ways. On one hand, they 

claim that the single reference to Mr. Clark's upper spine during opening, 

the ambiguous reference to when Dr. Teng met Mr. Clark, and the brief 

discussion of Dr. Teng's hospital progress note prejudiced the jury. They 
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then maintain that important exhibits discussing the critical dates had no 

impact even though they set out the same information which supposedly 

caused prejudice. 

The Clarks' argument conflicts with the purpose ofCR 59. "Under 

CR 59 (a)(2) a trial court may grant a new trial where misconduct 

materially affects the substantial rights of the losing party." Teter, 174 

Wn.2d at 222 (emphasis added). In Teter, the Supreme Court affirmed the 

order granting a new trial because "defense counsel repeatedly violated the 

evidence rules" by making speaking objections and by placing 

inadmissible evidence before the jury. Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 223 (emphasis 

added). Where the jury has the same evidence before it, offered by the 

plaintiffs, there is no possibility that these alleged violations materially 

affected the Clarks' right to a fair trial. 

The Clarks also argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with Teter because there were many examples of an alleged "nonparty 

fault theme." They draw an analogy to Teter, by trying to equate the 

juror's comment that the juror felt like "strangling" a couple of lawyers to 

a juror question that was not asked in this case. They argue: "after hearing 

the testimony and arguments referenced above, one of the jurors asked: 

"have you thought of bringing a lawsuit against Dr. Wohns?" 12 RP 

1603. The Clarks then conclude that the Court of Appeals ignored this 
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juror question "which provides strong support for the trial court's 

extensive fmdings of misconduct and prejudice." PR at 17. 

With due respect to opposing counsel, this is yet another example 

of a flagrant disregard for the actual record. The juror question at issue 

was submitted following Mr. Clark's testimony. Mr. Clark's testimony 

concludes at 6 RP 788. 11 Ofthe 13 examples ofthis nonparty "theme" 

offered on pages 14-15 ofthe Petition, 12 ofthem occur after Mr. Clark's 

testimony. It is thus impossible for any of those 12 examples to reflect 

prejudice demonstrated by the earlier juror's question. The timing of the 

question precludes the conclusion that it provided "strong support for the 

trial court's extensive findings of misconduct and prejudice." PR at 17. 

This approach to advocacy is similar to that which the Clarks' 

employed in their Court of Appeals' Response Brief (hereafter "RB"). 

On page 31 of that submission the Clarks argue: 

After this, the trial court correctly found that defense 
counsel had clearly argued, contrary to its order in limine 
regarding non-party fault, that Dr. Wohns had acted 
improperly: "I think you would have had to have been 
asleep to not get that clear inference." 11 RP 1570-71. 

11 The citations provided in the Petition are to argument of counsel in their briefmg and 
at oral argument on the motion for new trial. The actual juror question is part of the 
superior court record, but not contained in the Clerk's Papers as it was not referred to by 
any party. If needed, the record can be supplemented to include this document if there is 
any dispute. 
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RB 31 (emphasis added). By placing the quotation immediately 

following the statement that the "trial court correctly found that defense 

counsel had violated the motion in limine" the authors implied that the 

quote is the judge's criticism of defense counsel for misconduct relating 

to the order on nonparty fault. It was not. The Clarks appropriated this 

quote from the trial court's ruling on the defense motion for mistrial: 

THE COURT: All right. In terms of Dr. Wohns, the clear 
inference of the testimony presented by the defense through 
their experts and through Dr. Teng was that Dr. Wohns was 
inaccurate and not forthright in his testimony and what he 
said to the jury and what he told people he found during the 
course of his first surgery. 

I think you would have had to have been asleep to not get 
that clear inference. And so I don't like the word "lying," 
but I honestly believe that that is a conclusion that would 
have been reasonable for the jurors to make, given the 
information and evidence that had been presented to them 
by the defense. 

And so I made a ruling on that, I stand by that ruling, I 
think it's warranted under the facts that have occurred 
during this trial. It's for the jury to decide on Dr. Wohns's 
credibility, just as they have to decide on every witness's 
credibility. It's for them to decide whether or not he was 
accurate in his description of what he found after his first 
surgery, and in what he did and in his opinions. And that's 
just like every other witness. 

11 RP 1570:19-1571:13 (emphasis added). These, and other 

misrepresentations by counsel, drove the Court of Appeals clear 
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skepticism that the order for new trial was factually supported by the 

record. 

Finally, each of these alleged incidents was thoroughly discussed 

and rebutted in the Court of Appeals' Reply Brief and the appendices. As 

argued therein, there was no "defense theme" of nonparty fault. Instead, 

there was a very specific attempt to avoid any improper argument on this 

topic. 

The defense repeatedly distinguished between fault and causation 

and denied any intent to claim that Dr. Wohns was negligent. Dr. Bhatia 

specifically declined to consider whether Dr. Wohns violated the standard 

of care, stating that he had not evaluated the case on Dr. Wohns, and that 

he did not think there was a breach. 9 RP 1224-25. Dr. Teng denied that 

he was offering standard of care opinionsfour separate times. 10 RP 

1364. In closing, counsel told the jury "we didn't come here to play the 

blame game, but we did come here to show you, as part of our obligation, 

that things that were done after the 18th (sic) were the cause ofhis current 

symptoms." 11 RP 1539, lines 7-10. Counsel referred to the decision to 

"oversew" the wound as "reasonable." 11 RP 1540-41. Finally, counsel 

argued, that while other doctors would not have performed the surgery it 

"wasn't negligent, but it did cause his problems." 11 RP 1543, lines 15-

16. 
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Each of these examples demonstrate that the defense theme was 

causation, not fault. Because the trial court's fmdings are not supported 

by the record, the trial court abused its discretion in ordering the new trial. 

There is no conflict with Teter, because unlike Teter, the record does not 

support the findings upon which the trial court based its decision. 

B. The Clarks' disagreement with the results reached by the 
jury and the Court of Appeals create no significant issue of 
Constitutional Law or substantial issue of public interest 
that this Court should determine. 

The Clarks argue that this case somehow involves an issue of 

public importance and/or implicates constitutional rights. These 

arguments are equally unsound. 

First, they are unsupported by any facts in the record or legal 

authority. Instead, the Clarks cite to the "experience of the undersigned." 

They argue that "what happened here has become common in medical 

malpractice litigation." Again with due respect, counsels' purported, 

"experience" cannot provide the factual support for argument. RAP I 0.3 

states that the argument section of a brief12 is to be based on legal 

authority and citations to the record. Neither rule contemplates argument 

based on the limited personal experience of a single law firm. 

12 RAP 13.4(d) incorporates the content requirements of RAP 10.3 into petitions for 
review except where otherwise specified. 
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Moreover, consistent with their experience, defense counsel can 

suggest an equally likely scenario. Subsequent treating physicians, facing 

a non-negligent, but serious complication frequently align with plaintiffs' 

counsel before the case is filed. Plaintiffs then argue that the first doctor 

must have been negligent because doctors never testify against other 

doctors. Plaintiffs count on this powerful argument to persuade jurors that 

a bad result must certainly be attributable to the conduct of the first 

physician. 

When treating physicians depart from testifying just about their 

medical treatment and become paid13 experts, they have an interest in the 

outcome of the litigation. The defense thus has the right to challenge 

vigorously the subsequent treater/expert's credibility and the substance of 

his opinions. 

As established in Dr. Teng's Court of Appeals' Opening Brief, 

Reply Brief and the decision of the Court of Appeals, the alleged 

violations of the order on nonparty fault are based on Dr. Teng's 

constitutional right to defend himself against a false claim of negligence. 

Finally, there is no "profound constitutional issue presented here." 

The Clarks received a fair trial. For the reasons set out in the Opening 

13 Dr. Wohns was paid $12,000 just for his one day of testimony. CP 495-96. 
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Brief, it is the defense, not the plaintiffs, whose rights will be impaired if 

the trial court's motion in limine is construed as precluding the 

defendant's right to argue causation, or attack the incredible and false 

statements of the Clarks' 14 "expert" just because he also treated Mr. Clark. 

Finally, the Clarks raise the specter of"unrepresented" treating 

physicians being ambushed as part of their argument regarding public 

interest. The argument does not apply here. Dr. Richard Wohns holds a 

medical license, has a law degree15 and a masters of business 

administration and was well equipped to defend his own interests. 

Furthermore, had he had any concerns, he could have called his own 

carrier for representation. 

V. CONCLUSION 

It is time to end this litigation. The Clarks had a fair trial. The 

jury resolved the credibility dispute between Dr. Teng and Dr. Wohns in 

favor of Dr. Teng. The trial court, misled by inaccurate statements in the 

Clarks' briefing, incorporated factual errors into his order granting a new 

trial. Because there was no prejudicial misconduct and because the order 

14 If review is accepted, the defense reserves its right to argue that the correct standard of 
review is error oflaw, because the impact of the trial court's ruling is to deny the 
defendant his constitutional rights to challenge causation and the credibility of an expert 
witness. 
15 In fact, the trial judge admitted he was Dr. Wohns' ethics professor. 
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for new trial is not supported by the record, the Court of Appeals correctly 

reversed the trial court. Review should therefore be denied.